
Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764451 
e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

DECISION 
NOTICE
NOTICE OF DECISION MADE BY PORTFOLIO HOLDER 
DECISION: LAWTON 2:17

 (To be made available at the main offices of the Council and sent to all members of the 
Council within 3 working days of the decision.)

The Council’s Constitution (Standing Order 28 – Recording of Executive Decisions; Part 3
Section D4 – Delegations to Cabinet members; and Part 4 D Access to Information
Procedure Rules) requires that when any decision is made by an individual Portfolio
Holder a record of the decision, including a statement of the reasons for it and any
alternative options considered and rejected, must be prepared and published normally
within 3 working days.

In accordance with this requirement notice is hereby given that Councillor C.J Lawton, 
being the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health, made the decision detailed below on 
12th January 2018. This decision is not a key decision. 

This notice is published on 12th January 2018.

In accordance with the terms of the Constitution (Part 3 Section D – Overview and Scrutiny
(including Call-In Procedures)), the decision detailed below will come into force, and may
then be implemented, on Monday 22nd January 2018 (i.e. following the expiry of 5 working 
days following the date of publication of this notice) unless during that period a notice, 
where either a Ward Representative (in relation to a matter in their ward) or two members 
of the Performance Monitoring Panel or any three members formally request in writing 
(requests for Call-In must be given on a form designed for that purpose, and must be 
signed by each subscriber to the call-in) to the Senior Legal Officer (or such other officer 
as is nominated by the Senior Legal Officer) before the end of the five clear Working Day 
period specified in the above paragraph in relation to a particular decision by the Leader, a
Cabinet Member or Cabinet, a Sub-Committee of Cabinet or an officer, then that decision
shall be referred to the Performance Monitoring Panel. Such request must contain a
justifiable reason for the reference and one or more of the signatories to the reference
must forward to the Senior Legal Officer at least five clear Working Days before the date of

For office use :
Notice and report e-
mailed to EMT, 
Democratic 
Services, Comms 
Team and Report 
Author , on 12th 
January 2018



the Committee which is to consider the matter a brief explanation or statement as to the
concerns of the signatories in the matter, and what alternative decision(s) that
member/those members consider should be taken. (The call-in period expires at 5pm on
the 5th working day following publication of this notice, or 4.30pm if the 5th working day is a
Friday.)

Matter to which decision relates

Land at Seagate Terrace, Sutton Bridge – To enable appropriation of land (report of the 
Executive Director Commercialisation enclosed).  

DECISION (IF URGENT PROVIDE REASONS)

1)That the Executive Director of Commercialisation be given delegated authority to 
consider any objections arising from the giving of public notice of the proposal to 
appropriate from housing use to development use, and then dispose of, the land at 
Seagate Terrace, Long Sutton shown edged back on the plan attached at Appendix A (due 
to the land being ‘open space’), in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Housing and 
Health;

2)That, if all objections received under paragraph (1) above are overcome, the land at 
Seagate Terrace, Long Sutton be formally appropriated from its current housing use under 
Part II of the Housing Act 1985 (accounted for in the housing revenue account) to 
development purposes under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (accounted for in 
the general fund) to enable the development of new private housing;

3)That the appropriation be at a value of £50,000, being the full market value of the land 
with the benefit of planning permission.

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED

1)Do Nothing. The Council’s housing revenue account holds many areas of land which 
are non-dwellings. Where these assets are no longer required for a housing purpose the 
Council should determine whether they should be appropriated for alternative uses. In this 
particular case to do nothing will not enable the land to be developed.

2)Approve the recommendations. This will enable the land to be appropriated in the 
General Fund, and for the land to be sold to the developer.

3)To sell the land to the developer direct from the housing revenue account. There 
are some restrictions on what the Council can do when selling land from the housing 
revenue account. In particular any further sale of the land to future occupiers would need 



specific Secretary of State consent, impacting upon the ability of the developer to construct 
and sell homes on the land. Although it is considered likely that such consent would be 
forthcoming, the timescales for such consent are not known, and in the circumstance it is 
considered to be more timely to appropriate the land for the General Fund.

REASON OR REASONS FOR THE DECISION

To enable to the appropriation of land from the Council’s Housing Revenue Account to the 
General Fund, therefore enabling the sale of the land to a developer.

Conflicts of interest declared by an executive member, relating to the decision, and 
any dispensations granted

None known

R E P O R T

1 Lawton 2:17 - Land at Seagate Terrace Long Sutton - 
To enable the appropriation of land (report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation enclosed)

(Pages 
1 - 6)



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation

To: Christine Lawton, Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health

Author: Matthew Hogan, Strategic Housing Manager

Subject: Land at Seagate Terrace, Long Sutton

Purpose: To enable the appropriation of land

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the Executive Director of Commercialisation be given delegated authority to consider 
any objections arising from the giving of public notice of the proposal to appropriate from 
housing use to development use, and then to dispose of, the land at Seagate Terrace, Long 
Sutton shown edged black on the plan attached at Appendix A (due to the land being ‘open 
space’), in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health;

2) That, if all objections received under paragraph (1) above are overcome, the land at Seagate 
Terrace, Long Sutton be formally appropriated from its current housing use under Part II of 
the Housing Act 1985 (accounted for in the housing revenue account) to development 
purposes under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (accounted for in the general fund) 
to enable the development of new private housing;

3) That the appropriation be at a value of £50,000, being the full market value of the land with 
the benefit of planning permission.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Council owns the land at Seagate Terrace, Long Sutton shown edged black on the 
plan attached at Appendix A.  The Council’s land is land-locked and as can be seen from 
the attached plan is surrounded by various housing clusters with a single access to the 
adjacent site belonging to a local developer that has approached the Council with a 
proposal to develop the land using an access to the west of 100 London Road.  This 
access is shown hatched black on the attached plan and is in the ownership of the 
developer.

1.2 Planning permission has been granted for the site under planning permission reference 
H11-0780-17.  The permission is for a pair of semi-detached dwellings and a terrace of 3 
dwellings.  This application was submitted by the developer. 

1.3 Following lengthy negotiations the Council has agreed to sell the land to the developer 
which will then enable the developer to build out the land. A formal decision concerning the 
sale of the land was taken by the Council in June 2016 through an Executive Member 
decision. 

2.0 APPROPRIATION AND DISPOSAL

2.1 The land at Seagate Terrace was originally purchased in 1978 as a general improvement 
area and is currently held under Part II of the Housing Act 1985 within the housing revenue 
account.   Section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972 states that a district council may 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



appropriate any land for other purposes if it is no longer required for the purpose for which it 
is currently held. 

2.2 The officers consider that the land at Seagate Terrace, Long Sutton is not being used for 
housing purposes.  Even though the land may be considered to be ‘open space’, it has not 
specifically been provided for the benefit of the Council’s housing tenants. In the 
circumstances it is proposed that the land be appropriated to planning use under the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 to enable the land to be sold for development purposes.  
The land will then be accounted for in the general fund.  An appropriate debit will have to be 
made to the housing revenue account and a credit to the general fund.

2.3 Under section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 a district council may not appropriate 
or dispose of land consisting or forming part of an open space unless they give public 
notice of their intention to do so.  The land could be considered to be ‘open space’ land and 
therefore public notice of the proposed appropriation and disposal has been given.  The 
Council is required to ‘consider’ objections to the Council’s view as to whether the land is 
required for its present purpose.  The last date for objections was Friday 17 November 
2017. No such objections were received by the deadline. 

2.4 The General Housing Consents 2013 provide that a local authority may dispose of vacant 
land for a price determined by the authority. The Council does not, therefore, need to 
dispose at full market value, although the Council’s own policy is to do so.

2.0 OPTIONS

3.1.1 Do nothing. The Council’s housing revenue account holds many areas of land which are 
non-dwellings.  Where these assets are no longer required for a housing purpose the 
Council should determine whether they should be appropriated for alternative uses.  In this 
particular case to do nothing will not enable the land to be developed.

3.1.2 Approve the recommendations.  This will enable the land to be appropriated in the 
General Fund, and for the land to be sold to the developer. 

3.1.3 To sell the land to the developer direct from the housing revenue account.  There are 
some restrictions on what the Council can do when selling land from the housing revenue 
account.  In particular any further sale of the land to future occupiers would need specific 
Secretary of State consent, impacting upon the ability of the developer to construct and sell 
homes on the land. Although it is considered likely that such consent would be forthcoming, 
the timescales for such consent are not known, and in the circumstances it is considered to 
be more timely to appropriate the land to the General Fund.  

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To enable the appropriation of land from the council’s Housing Revenue Account to the 
council’s General Fund, therefore enabling the sale of the land to a developer. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The Housing Revenue Account will receive a capital receipt, equivalent to the market value 
for the land. This capital receipt will support the council’s programme of investment in its 
existing and future affordable housing stock. 

4.2 The appropriation and sale will support the delivery of five new homes, alongside the 
redevelopment of land which is presently under-utilised and a maintenance cost to the 
council. 

Page 2



5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitutional and legal

5.2.1 As set out at paragraph 2 above.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 The sale of the land from the council to the developer will be governed by a contract. The 
council’s legal team are presently finalising the contract that will govern the sale. 

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The appropriation of the land (and subsequent sale of the land to enable the delivery of five 
dwellings) supports the delivery of a number of the council’s Corporate Priorities, namely ‘to 
encourage the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth’. 

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications 

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 Advice has been sought from the District Valuer as to the value of the land for the purposes 
of the appropriation. The developer has offered £50,000 for the purchase. This offer is 
consistent with the District Valuers assessment of the market value of the land.

5.7.2 The General Housing Consents 2013 provide that a local authority may dispose of vacant 
land for a price determined by the authority.      

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications

5.9 Reputation 

5.9.1 In order to minimise any reputational risk to the authority, formal legal advice has been 
secured on the matter of appropriation. This advice has been followed in order to bring 
about the formal appropriation. 

5.10 Risk Management 

5.10.2 In order to minimise any reputational risk to the authority, formal legal advice has been 
secured on the matter of appropriation. This advice has been followed in order to bring 
about the formal appropriation.

Page 3



5.11 Safeguarding

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications

5.12 Staffing

5.12.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no implications

5.13 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.13.1 In accordance with legal advice on this matter, a public notice has been published setting 
out the authority’s intention to appropriate the land. Representations on the Council’s 
intentions in relation to the land have been invited from the public. This process has not 
generated any representations on the matter. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 This report and its implications affect the Long Sutton Ward only

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Matthew Hogan, Strategic Housing Manager
Telephone Number: 01775 764524
Email: Matthew.Hogan@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A: Plan showing location of land

Page 4

file:///C:/Users/matthewhogan/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Appendix A

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Lawton 2:17 - Land at Seagate Terrace, Long Sutton
	Appendix A


